Yosami Radio Transmitting Station     IEEE Nagoya Section

On Tuesday, 19 May 2009, the IEEE Nagoya Section in partnership with Kariya City and the Tokai Section of the Institute of Electronics, Information and Communication Engineers (IEICE), and the Chubu Society for the Industrial Heritage celebrated an IEEE Milestone dedication ceremony commemorating the transmitting station of the first trans-Eurasian wireless communications in Kariya, Japan. 
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The Yosami Radio Transmitting Station using Very Low Frequency (17.442kHz) was completed in March 1929 at Yosami village (now a part of Kariya City) near Nagoya. It was built for trade and governmental communications between Japan and European countries. Long wave and large power were thought to be needed for long-distance wireless communications in those days. The huge machine-sender, which was one of the biggest in the world at that time, was designed by Telefunken and manufactured by AEG of Germany. The transmitting system composed of the induction-type high-frequency generator, with output power of 500kW and frequency of 5.814kHz, and the frequency tripler. Its first destination was Warsaw, Poland on April 15th, 1929, and next was Berlin, Germany on 22nd. Yokkaichi Receiving Station had already been opened in March 1928, and two-way communications through 8,000-10,000km distance with European countries became possible by the opening of Yosami Radio Transmitting Station. The YOSAMI came to be known as one of the largest wireless stations in the world. 
For the unique feature of long wave that can penetrate deep into water, the Japanese Navy began to use the long wave transmitter for communications with submarines from 1941. After the World War II, the US Navy took over the facilities for communications with their submarines in 1950. Denki Kogyo was then established for operations and maintenance of the station. In August 1993, the US Navy stopped the operations of the radio station. The antenna system with eight 250m-high towers was dismantled by 1997. Part of one tower and one transmitter is now kept at the Memorial Museum in the Floral Garden Yosami, opened by Kariya City in April 2007.
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The dedication ceremony, blessed with fine weather, drew about three hundred and fifty spectators. Prof. Satoshi Iwata, the secretary of the Nagoya Section, was the Master of Ceremony. The ceremony began with greetings and best wishes from the chair of the Nagoya Section, Prof. Masayuki Nagao. The chair of the IEEE Japan Council History Committee, Dr. Eiichi Ohno eloquently explained the IEEE milestones and the history of the transmitting station. The plaque was dedicated to the Mayor of Kariya City, Yoshinori Takenaka, by the distinguished representative of the IEEE History Committee, Dr. Jonathan Coopersmith. The mayor expressed a deep gratitude for the registration to the IEEE milestone. He expressed his strong intention to keep the museum for future generations. Representing the pupils from Futaba Elementary School of Kariya City, which is located next to the Yosami Radio Transmitting Station, Honoka Miwa and Yusuke Fukuda read messages from younger generations saying that they would like to study more about the history and technology of the Yosami Station.   
The dedication ceremony was followed by a museum tour guided by twenty-nine Museum volunteers who have been devoting themselves to pass down the history of the Yosami station. The participants were impressed with the huge transmitting facilities. 

Luncheon at the Yosami Floral Garden followed. A message from the President of IEEE, Dr. John Vig, was delivered by the IEEE Region 10 Director, Prof. Yong Jin Park at the start of the party. Prof. Nobuyuki Matsui, the IEEE Japan Council vice chair, gave a toast cerebrating that the name of Yosami is now known to Japanese public who often misread its Kanji characters. All enjoyed refreshments and hors d’oeuvres. A message of greetings and congratulations from Dr. Oskar Blumtritt representing Deutches Museum, Germany, one of the world’s largest museums of technology and science, was introduced by Prof. Takeshi Furuhashi, the former-secretary of the Nagoya section. Efforts by the National Institute of Information and Communication Technologies (NICT) of Japan were introduced by Dr. Mamoru Ishii, a director of NICT, to receive telegraph transmission from Grimeton Radio Station, the World Heritage, for honoring the registration of Yosami Station. The transmission was made using 17.2kHz, 200kw output power at 17:00 UTC on May 19 and at 7:00 UTC on May 20. The message reads:

“The World Heritage Radio Station SAQ in Grimeton Sweden honour the Japanese Radio Station YOSAMI - built 80 years ago with the former callsign JND – to be nominated as an IEEE Milestone today.

There are many similarities between the YOSAMI Radio Station and Grimeton Radio Station, i. e. both opened for radio traffic during the twenties, both used/use a very low frequency, VLF and both transmitters use rotating alternators without any tubes.

The IEEE established the Electrical Engineering Milestones in 1983 to honour significant achievements in the history of electrical and electronic engineering. At the end of 2008 there are 83 Milestones in the world and 8 Milestones in Japan.

The Alexanderson transmitter in Grimeton was designed by Ernst F. W. Alexanderson during the period 1904-1918 and is now since 1992 an IEEE Milestone.”
Although the efforts in Japan to receive this message were not rewarded, many radio stations in the world including a station in Beijing succeeded in catching it. 
Following the luncheon, commemorative lectures were held at Kariya Central Library. The opening addresses were given by the chair of the IEEE Nagoya Section, Prof. Masayuki Nagao, and the chair of the IEICE Tokai Section, Prof. Seiichi Nakagawa, and a report on “Brief History of Yosami Radio Transmitting Station” was presented by Mr. Shoji Ishida on behalf of Mr. Kotaro Tanaka, members of the Chubu Society for the Industrial Heritage. Under the title of “Introduction to Grimeton and its Relationships with Yosami”, Dr. Eiju Matsumoto, the secretary of the IEEE Japan Council History Committee, introduced Grimeton VLF Radio Station to the audience. Two distinguished guests, Dr. Lars G. Johansson, the chief executive of the World Heritage Grimeton, and Mr. Kjell Markstom, the former chief executive and the chairman of the Foundation for World Heritage Grimeton, Sweden, followed Dr. Matsumoto’s lecture. The titles of their talks were: “Culture Chronology of Grimeton and Yosami” and “The Grimeton Radio Station from Technical and Operative Perspectives,” respectively. The audience came to realize how both the radio stations were chronologically similar and played important roles in the history of radio communications. The living VLF station in Sweden was then known to the attendants as an amazing gift from the early 20th century. 
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The IEEE Milestone for the Yosami Radio Transmitting Station was well covered in Japanese mass media, including weekly paper Kariya Home News, daily newspapers of Asahi, Chunichi, Mainichi, and Yomiuri, and broadcasted by NHK and community cable TV KATCH.

The Milestone citation reads:

In April 1929, the Yosami Station established the first wireless communications between Japan and Europe with a long wave operating at 17.442 kHz.  An inductor-type high-frequency alternator provided output power at 500 kW. The antenna system used eight towers, each 250 m high.  The facilities were also used for communicating with submarines by the Imperial Japanese Navy from 1941 to 1945 and by the United States Navy from 1950 to 1993.
